Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-7-2017

Bias v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45037

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

The state appeals from the district court's judgment granting post-conviction relief. The district court erred when it ruled on an unpled claim and applied an erroneous ineffective assistance of counsel legal standard.

Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

The state charged William Jack Bias with felony DUI and misdemeanor injury to a child. (#40930 R., pp. 36-37.) Pursuant to a plea agreement he pled guilty to felony DUI and the injury to a child count was dismissed. (#40930 R., pp. 45-46.)

Bias filed a petition for post-conviction relief raising various challenges to his conviction and sentence. (R., pp. 4-7.) One of Bias's claims was that trial counsel did not challenge the "protocol of stop and jurisdiction of law enforcement" and did not file a "motion to suppress for jurisdiction." (R., p. 6 (spelling and capitalization corrected).)

The district court appointed counsel to represent Bias. (R., pp. 9-17.) In its order the district court found the petition "fail[ed] to assert why the stop may have been illegal." (R., p. 15.) The district court gave appointed counsel 30 days to cure this deficiency (R., pp. 16-17), but counsel did not file an amended complaint or otherwise supplement the pleading (see R.). The state filed its answer, generally denying the causes of action asserted in the petition. (R., pp. 20-22.)

The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on July 25, 2016. (R., pp. 29-30.) At the conclusion of the hearing the district court noted that although there was evidence Bias had asked counsel to move to suppress on jurisdictional issues the only evidence that there was an actual jurisdictional issue was Bias's "belief that, because it was a city cop that arrested him in Sugar, there was some jurisdictional issue that would have denied him the right to make the arrest." (7/25/16 Tr., p. 58, L. 17 - p. 59, L. 14; p. 69, L. 9 - p. 71, L. 1.)

The parties stipulated to re-opening the evidence. (R., p. 36; 9/19/16 Tr., p. 73, L. 14 – p. 74, L. 11.) The prosecution made it clear that the stipulation was limited to evidence regarding the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for not moving to suppress based on a claim the officer was outside his jurisdiction. (9/19/16 Tr., p. 74, L. 20 – p. 75, L. 21.)

At the conclusion of the second evidentiary hearing Bias's counsel asked to raise a new claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for not moving to suppress evidence based on a challenge to reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop leading to the DUI investigation. (9/19/16 Tr., p. 135, L. 22 – p. 137, L. 11; p. 139, Ls. 4-23.) When asked by the district court to respond regarding the "new area," the prosecutor, Mr. Brown, responded:

MR. BROWN: Well, as I understand it, Your Honor, we keep delving into new areas. As I understand the last hearing we had, this was raised as a side issue after it was all over.
THE COURT: Yeah. We've gone down several different rabbit holes in this case-MR. BROWN: Yeah. In other words -THE COURT: -- no question about it.
MR. BROWN: In other words, "We can't find this one to have the Court give us what we want; so let's go over here."

(9/19/16 Tr., p. 142, Ls. 7-17.) The district court responded to this argument by stating, "Well, let's assume that we're all in this business because we're trying to get it right. So help me get it right." (9/19/16 Tr., p. 142, Ls. 18-20.) Thereafter the prosecutor made an argument on the merits of the newly asserted claim. (9/19/16 Tr., p. 142, L. 21 - p. 144,

L. 6.) At the conclusion of the hearing the court asked, "[i]n light of the new issue that was

introduced today, does either side wish to brief that further?" (9/19/16 Tr., p. 144, Ls. 16-17.)

At a subsequent status hearing, the district court informed the parties that it had been "working on its decision" and had "essentially reached completion on it just a little while ago." (11/28/16 Tr., p. 146, Ls. 19-24.) However, the district court had "come upon a recent ruling of the Idaho Supreme Court," State v. Neal, 159 Idaho 439, 362 P.3d 514 (2015), which could be "potentially dispositive" of the "new issue that was interjected into the case, as to the reasonable suspicion for the stop." (11/28/16 Tr., p. 146, L. 25 - p. 147, L. 25 - pL. 4; Ls. 9-12.) However, "because of the manner in which the issue was presented" the State had not been able to address the recent Idaho Supreme Court decision. (11/28/16 Tr., p. 147, Ls. 5-8.) The district court stated that it would find it "very difficult" to rule in the state's favor at that point in the proceedings. (11/28/16 Tr., p. 149, Ls. 1-3.) The district court acknowledged that the prior evidentiary proceeding had been limited to the single issue of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to move to suppress on jurisdictional grounds, and it was "very clear, that we weren't going to go into new issues." (11/28/16)Tr., p. 149, Ls. 4-14.) The district court stated that presented a "quandary," because it did not "think the State had adequate time to respond either in briefing or with additional evidence." (11/28/16 Tr., p. 149, Ls. 15-20; see also p. 152, Ls. 16-22.) The district court also recognized that there was an issue of "whether the Court should even consider this evidence, since there was an agreement that I wouldn't." (11/28/16 Tr., p. 149, Ls. 21-24; see also p., 152, Ls. 23-25.) The district court ultimately allowed the state to provide additional evidence and briefing. (11/28/16 Tr., p. 157, L. 9 – p. 158, L. 7.)

When the case was next in court the prosecution asked "to put some additional evidence on the record." (1/12/17 Tr., p. 6, Ls. 20-23.) At the conclusion of the evidence the state argued that consideration of the <u>Neal</u> decision would be antithetical to the general ineffective assistance of counsel standards because the court should consider the state of the law at the time trial counsel made his decisions. (1/12/17 Tr., p. 114, L. 10 – p. 116, L. 3.) Thereafter the district court declined any briefing. (1/12/17 Tr., p. 139, Ls. 7-19.)

The district court determined that Bias had failed to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel on the claims addressed in the first two evidentiary hearings. (R., pp., 48-60, 65-66.) It further determined that claims of a *Brady*¹ violation and that counsel was ineffective for failing to conduct discovery were not properly raised. (R., pp. 67-71.) It granted relief on the "new issue" of failure to challenge reasonable suspicion for the stop, however, after: (1) overruling the state's objection that the issue of reasonable suspicion was not pled, because "Bias did set forth a claim that his attorney failed to 'challenge the proto call [sic] of the stop" and therefore raised the issue of "the legality of the stop" (R., pp. 59-60); and (2) concluding that the suppression motion should be granted (R., pp. 59-64). It entered judgment granting the petition. (R., p. 76.) The state filed a notice of appeal within 42 days of the filing of the judgment. (R., pp. 78-80.)

¹ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 88 (1963).

<u>ISSUES</u>

- 1. Did the district court err by considering the unpled claim that counsel's performance was deficient for not challenging the reasonable suspicion for the stop?
- 2. Did the district court err when it applied an incorrect legal standard to the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for not filing a suppression motion?

ARGUMENT

I. <u>The District Court Erred By Considering The Unpled Claim That Counsel Should Have</u> <u>Challenged The Reasonable Suspicion For The Stop</u>

A. <u>Introduction</u>

The district court specifically found that "[c]ounsel for the state objected" to consideration of the claim that counsel was ineffective for not challenging the reasonable suspicion for the stop, "noting that the purpose of the second evidentiary hearing was only to consider the jurisdictional issue, not other issues related to the legality of the stop." (R., pp. 58-59.²) The court overruled the state's objection, concluding that Bias did assert a claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to assert lack of reasonable suspicion for the stop by alleging counsel should have challenged the protocol of the stop. (R., p. 59.) The district court erred by concluding that Bias pled the theory that counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the reasonable suspicion for the stop.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

The question of notice is reviewed *de novo*. <u>See Thornton v. Pandrea</u>, 161 Idaho 301, 312, 385 P.3d 856, 867 (2016) (notice in deed).

C. <u>The District Court Erroneously Held That The Theory That Counsel Was</u> Ineffective For Not Challenging The Reasonable Suspicion For The Stop Was Pled

"Pleadings must be construed so as to do justice." I.R.C.P. 8(e). A necessary condition for finding a pleading adequate is that it provides sufficient notice. <u>See Watkins</u> <u>v. Watkins</u>, 162 Idaho 600, ____, 402 P.3d 1053, 1058-60 (2017) (court erred by concluding

 $^{^2}$ This finding of an objection forecloses any claim that the issue was litigated with the express or implied consent of the state. I.R.C.P. 15(b)(2).

that debt was accelerated by complaint where "the language of the complaint was inadequate to give notice of acceleration"); <u>Hull v. Geisler</u>, 156 Idaho 765, 776-77, 331 P.3d 507, 518-19 (2014) (pleading asserting claim of implied contract did not assert theory of express contract where it did not provide "notice that breach of an express contract was at issue"); <u>Brown v. City of Pocatello</u>, 148 Idaho 802, 808, 229 P.3d 1164, 1170 (2010) ("Without a clear and concise statement sufficient to place a reasonable attorney on notice of the plaintiff's *theories* of recovery that must be defended against, whether in the body of the complaint or in the prayer for relief, it cannot be said that a cause of action was sufficiently pled." (emphasis original).) Review of the petition shows it did not provide notice that failure to challenge the reasonable suspicion for the stop was a theory of ineffective assistance of counsel pled by Bias.

In his pleadings Bias asserted counsel was ineffective because he "did not challenge protocol of stop and jurisdiction of law enforcement. Also refused to file motion to suppress for jurisdiction." (R., p. 6 (capitalization and spelling corrected).) In granting Bias's motion for appointment of counsel, the district court specifically stated that the petition "fails to assert why the stop may have been illegal." (R., p. 15.³) This statement cannot be reconciled with the district court's later determination that Bias pled the theory that counsel was ineffective for failing to claim the stop was illegal because the officer lacked reasonable suspicion. The language of the petition did not allege a theory that counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the reasonable suspicion for the stop for the

³ The district court gave appointed counsel 30 days to fix this deficiency (R., pp. 16-17), but counsel did not move to amend the petition (see R.).

very reason articulated by the district court: the petition "fails to assert why the stop may have been illegal." (R., p. 15.)

Inadequate notice in a pleading can be disregarded where the other party understood and responded to the relevant theory. <u>See Brown</u>, 148 Idaho at 810, 229 P.3d at 1172 ("Even where the Complaint, on its face, appears insufficient to place a reasonable defense attorney on notice of a cause of action, this Court may still find that pleading sufficient where the defendant responds to that cause of action in their answer."); <u>Seiniger Law</u> <u>Office, P.A. v. N. Pac. Ins. Co.</u>, 145 Idaho 241, 247, 178 P.3d 606, 612 (2008) ("Despite the glaring deficiencies in the complaint, [Defendant] understood and responded to Jennings's contract claim."). Here the record shows that the state, as well as Bias and the district court, at least through the second evidentiary hearing, did not believe the petition alleged a theory of ineffective assistance of counsel for not challenging reasonable suspicion for the stop.

First, as noted above, the district court's own orders demonstrate it did not believe Bias had alleged a theory that counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the reasonable suspicion for the stop. The district court, in appointing counsel, specifically found that the petition "fails to assert why the stop may have been illegal." (R., p. 15.) In concluding the issue was before it, the district court stated only that "the legality of the stop had been previously raised [by] Bias, at least generally" in the petition, without explaining how a general claim that the stop was illegal because "protocol" was not followed (see R., p. 6 (spelling altered)) gave the state notice that Bias was alleging his counsel should have asserted the theory the stop was illegal because the officer lacked reasonable suspicion. (R., p. 59.) Again as noted above, the district court's observation, supported by the language of the petition, that Bias had not alleged why the stop was illegal is incompatible with its later conclusion that Bias had pled the theory that the stop was illegal for lack of reasonable suspicion.

At the hearing following the second evidentiary hearing the district court stated, "At the very end of that hearing, there was a *new issue raised* concerning whether or not there was reasonable suspicion for the stop, and, if not, was it ineffective assistance of counsel not to raise that issue[.]" (9/28/2016 Tr., p. 146, Ls. 12-16 (emphasis added).) It stated that it was comfortable with the other issues, but had questions on the "last issue, which was *the new issue that was interjected into the case*, as to the reasonable suspicion for the stop." (9/28/2016 Tr., p. 146, L. 25 – p. 147, L. 4 (emphasis added).) The district court stated the state had not had "adequate time to respond either in briefing or with additional evidence." (9/28/16 Tr., p. 149.) Even in its order, one page after concluding the petition asserted the theory, the district court characterized the theory as "the new issue which was raised at the conclusion of the second evidentiary hearing." (R., p. 60.) These statements by the district court throughout the proceedings indicate it believed the theory that trial counsel should have challenged reasonable suspicion for the stop was a "new theory" that was not pled and for which the state lacked notice.

Second, the record shows that Bias himself did not believe he had raised a theory that counsel should have challenged the reasonable suspicion for the stop. At the first evidentiary hearing Bias testified he told his trial counsel "[t]wo or three times" that he "wanted to put in a motion to suppress on the jurisdiction of the stop." (7/25/16 Tr., p. 17, L. 20 - p. 18, L. 12.) Even though no evidence of a claim that counsel was ineffective for not challenging reasonable suspicion for the stop was presented, after the hearing Bias

assured the district court that his counsel had argued everything he wanted to have argued. (Tr., p. 71, L. 18 – p. 72, L. 5.) Bias did not give any indication that he believed he had pled a theory other than that his attorney should have challenged the officer's jurisdiction.

Third, the record shows that Bias's post-conviction counsel did not, when the first evidentiary hearing was conducted, believe that reasonable suspicion for the stop was an issue. After the hearing the court noted that the only evidence presented regarding the basis for a motion to suppress was Bias's "belief that, because it was a city cop that arrested him in Sugar, there was some jurisdictional issue that would have denied him the right to make an arrest." (7/25/16 Tr., p. 58, L. 21 – p. 59, L. 3.) Bias's post-conviction counsel offered to brief the issue. (7/25/16 Tr., p. 59, Ls. 15-17.) Bias's counsel did brief the issue of a jurisdictional claim as a basis for suppression. (R., pp. 31-34.) In neither his argument nor his subsequent briefing did counsel address a theory that counsel was ineffective for not challenging reasonable suspicion for the stop. (7/25/16 Tr., p. 57, L. 23 – p. 61, L. 5; R., pp. 31-34.)

As set forth above in more detail, the parties stipulated to reopen the evidentiary hearing, but limited only to the issue of jurisdiction. After the conclusion of the second evidentiary hearing Bias's counsel stated that "looking at the video" admitted as evidence at the hearing "raises a whole new set of issues whether the officer had probable cause or reasonable suspicion to even pull the vehicle over." (9/19/16 Tr., p. 136, Ls. 3-7.) The court noted that it appeared that "the legal issues keep growing, like, exponentially" and asked Bias's counsel if he was "asserting a new basis for post-conviction relief." (9/19/16 Tr., p. 136, Ls. 15-22.) Counsel responded, "Well, I think we have to, based on what we saw today on this video, Your Honor." (9/19/16 Tr., p. 136, Ls. 23-24.) Counsel stated

that the issue raised in the petition was "whether a suppression motion should have been filed based on the jurisdictional limits in this case." (9/19/16 Tr., p. 137, Ls. 2-5.) Counsel then stated, "But I think, upon looking at this, you could also look at it as kind of a two-prong suppression issue, with jurisdiction being one issue and the second issue being probable cause or reasonable suspicion to pull the vehicle over, based upon what we've seen in the video today." (9/19/16 Tr., p. 137, Ls. 5-11.) Counsel's argument fell short of asserting the "whole new set of issues" had been pled, much less rose to demonstrating that the theory trial counsel was ineffective for not challenging the reasonable suspicion for the stop was pled and the state had notice of that theory.

Finally, and most importantly, the prosecutor was surprised when the theory was first presented and he objected. The district court inquired regarding the new issue, "[i]n light of the fact that we've kind of delved into a new area." (9/19/16 Tr., p. 142, Ls. 4-6.) The prosecutor asserted that this was indeed "delving into new areas" and made the objection to consideration of the new issue, as found by the district court. (9/19/16 Tr., p. 142, Ls. 7-17; R., pp. 58-59.) Nothing stated by the prosecutor suggests he believed the theory that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the reasonable suspicion for the stop was pled. To the contrary, the record shows that he lacked notice in the pleading and addressed the "new issue" only after the district court announced it was going to decide it, with or without the state presenting evidence.

The petition, alleging that counsel was ineffective for failing to "challenge protocol of stop and jurisdiction of law enforcement. Also refused to file motion to suppress for jurisdiction" (R., p. 6 (capitalization and spelling corrected)), did not plead a theory, much less provide notice, that ineffective assistance of trial counsel for not challenging the

reasonable suspicion for the stop was an issue. Moreover, the actions and statements of the district court and the parties, at least until Bias's counsel raised the "new issue" of reasonable suspicion, showed that no one had interpreted the petition as making such a claim. The district court erred when it concluded that the petition asserted a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for not moving to suppress for a lack of reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop.

II.

<u>The District Court Erred When It Applied An Incorrect Legal Standard To The Claim Of</u> <u>Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel For Not Filing A Suppression Motion</u>

A. <u>Introduction</u>

Even if considered on the merits, the district court erred in granting relief. Specifically, the district court applied an incorrect standard when it concluded that finding that the motion to suppress should be granted was alone sufficient to find deficient performance. Application of the correct standard, which, after concluding the suppression motion would have been granted also requires proof to overcome a strong presumption that tactical choices are reasonable, shows no ineffective assistance of counsel.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

The appellate court "exercises free review of the district court's application of the relevant law to the facts." <u>Dunlap v. State</u>, 141 Idaho 50, 56, 106 P.3d 376, 382 (2004).

C. <u>The District Court Erred By Failing To Apply The Second Step Of A Two-Step</u> <u>Analysis</u>

In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a post-conviction petitioner must prove both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. <u>Strickland v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); <u>State v. Charboneau</u>, 116 Idaho 129, 137, 774 P.2d 299, 307 (1989). With respect to the deficient performance prong, the United States Supreme Court has articulated the defendant's burden under <u>Strickland</u> as follows:

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