Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-2-2018

Bias v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45037

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

ARGUMENT

I.

<u>The State Has Failed To Show That The District Court Erred When It Considered The Claim</u> <u>That Trial Counsel Was Ineffective For Failing To Challenge The Reasonable Suspicion For The</u> <u>Stop After The Prosecution Presented Evidence That Was Never Disclosed To Mr. Bias, And</u> <u>Failed To Further Object To The District Court's Consideration Of The Issue But Instead Chose</u> <u>To Call Additional Witnesses To Testify On The Issue</u>

A. <u>Introduction</u>

At the second evidentiary hearing on Mr. Bias's post-conviction claim that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion to suppress on the grounds that the officer who stopped him was outside his jurisdiction, Mr. Bias discovered for the very first time that the State actually had a video of the traffic stop. The video showed that the officer did not have reasonable suspicion for the stop, which supported a claim that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion to suppress on those grounds. Mr. Bias, therefore, immediately upon learning of the existence of the video, moved to amend the pleadings to make an additional ineffective assistance of counsel claim. The State argues that because Mr. Bias did not make his claim before learning of the video's existence—and therefore of the claim's existence—the district court should not have considered the claim.

But the district court appreciated that it was fundamentally unfair for Mr. Bias to have entered a guilty plea without seeing all the evidence in his case. And the district court found that his plea could not be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary without having ever seen the video of his traffic stop. Mr. Bias did not know about this evidence either because the State failed to provide it or because his trial counsel failed to request discovery. Regardless, the district court was gravely concerned about both Mr. Bias's decision to plead guilty without having had the opportunity to see the video, and the reasons he did not get that opportunity. Indeed, the district court included an additional four pages in its order discussing the reasons Mr. Bias was never made aware of the video and trying to provide guidance for defense attorneys and prosecutors, so that a situation like this did not happen again.

In its attempt to argue that the district court erred, the State fails to discuss these facts or acknowledge their gravity. Thus, its arguments skirt the real problem in this case. The State argues that it was the prosecution that did not receive notice of the issue before the court because the district court considered an allegedly unpled claim. This is a specious argument for several reasons. First, the State ignores what occurred after the video was introduced by the prosecution. Indeed, the State's argument on this issue focuses on what happened at the second evidentiary hearing where the video was introduced, and the events prior to that hearing. The subsequent hearings, however, clearly show that the district court did not rule on the claim at the second evidentiary hearing but instead provided ample notice and an opportunity for the prosecution to respond to the issue raised by the newly revealed video. Thus, the district court's consideration of the issue was not prejudicial to the prosecution. Second, despite the prosecution's initial objection to the new issue, the subsequent hearings show that the issue was tried with the implied consent of the prosecution. And finally, even if the claim was technically "unpled," as the State argues, it was "unpled" precisely because the video was not disclosed until the prosecution introduced it to disprove the jurisdictional claim; it is impossible to make a claim and allege facts based on evidence you do not know exists.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

Where the district court grants post-conviction relief after an evidentiary hearing, this Court views the evidence "in the light most favorable to the trial court's findings." *Howard v. State*, 126 Idaho 231, 233 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing *Storm v. State*, 112 Idaho 718, 720 (1987); *Estes v. State*, 111 Idaho 430, 434 (1986)). "Findings supported by competent and

15

substantial evidence produced at the hearing will not be disturbed on appeal." *Id.* (citations omitted). The "Court exercises free review of the district court's application of the relevant law to the facts." *Dunlap v. State*, 141 Idaho 50, 56 (2005).

C. <u>The District Court Provided The State Ample Notice Of The Claim That Trial Counsel</u> <u>Was Ineffective For Failing To File A Motion To Suppress Challenging The Reasonable</u> <u>Suspicion For The Traffic Stop</u>

Focusing this Court's attention on the second evidentiary hearing in this case, where the video was first revealed, the State makes a notice argument about Mr. Bias's initial pleading. (App. Br., pp.6-12.) Specifically, the State argues that the prosecution did not receive adequate notice of the claim that Mr. Bias's trial counsel was ineffective by failing to challenge the reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop, suggesting the inadequacy of that notice was unjust. (App. Br., pp.11-12.)

However, the "technical rules of pleading have long been abandoned in this state." *Clark v. Olsen*, 110 Idaho 323, 325 (1986) (citing *Rauh v. Oliver*, 10 Idaho 3, 9 (1904)). "It is clear that a trial court may and is required to grant any relief to a party which the evidence demonstrates a party is entitled to, whether or not such has been specifically requested." *Cady v. Pitts*, 102 Idaho 86, 90 (1981); *accord O'Connor v. Harger Constr.*, *Inc.*, 145 Idaho 904, 911 (2008); *Child v. Blaser*, 111 Idaho 702, 704 (Ct. App. 1986) ("We also agree that the judge had the authority—even the duty—to grant the relief to which [plaintiffs] were shown to be entitled although they had not demanded such in their pleadings."). "The general policy behind the current rules of civil procedure is to provide every litigant with his or her day in court." *Clark*, 110 Idaho at 325 (citation omitted). "The key issue in determining the validity of a complaint is whether the adverse party is put on notice of the claims brought against it." *Vendelin v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 140 Idaho 416, 427 (2004) (citation omitted). Further, "Pleadings must be

construed so as to do justice." I.R.C.P. 8(e). Finally, trial courts have "wide discretion in permitting amendments of pleadings to conform to the proof." *Obray v. Mitchell*, 98 Idaho 533, 537 (1977) (citations omitted).

Here, the State's notice argument focuses almost exclusively on what occurred "through the second evidentiary hearing." (App. Br., pp.8-12.) For example, the State argues that the fact the "prosecutor was surprised when the theory was first presented" is important. (App. Br., p.11.) But this fails to acknowledge that the entire complexion of the case changed at the second hearing when the prosecutor introduced the video. Indeed, Mr. Bias was also quite surprised at that point. (9/19/16 Tr., p.136, Ls.1-6.)

Because everyone was surprised, the court was careful to give the State ample opportunities to meet the new claim and evidence. At the November status hearing, the district court made the following remarks: "I think the Court will need to have the issue, if the State wishes, briefed further on whether the Court should even consider this evidence, since there was an agreement that I wouldn't." (11/28/16 Tr., p.149, Ls.21-24.) It went on to say, "[A]lthough I'm essentially done with my decision, my sense of justice tells me it wouldn't be fair to the State to proceed without giving them a chance to address these concerns that I've raised, because" it never had a chance to respond to those. (11/28/16 Tr., p.150, Ls.12-17.) Finally, it said if the State wanted the court to simply make its decision at that point, it would, but "if the State would like to present more, I think you have a right to, in fairness." (11/28/16 Tr., p.151, Ls.2-3.)

The district court then asked how much time the prosecution would need and whether it wanted to respond with briefing, other evidence, or witnesses. (11/28/16 Tr., p.152, Ls.14-20.) It said, "I think *in fairness you should be allowed to do that, because you weren't given proper*

notice that this issue was going to be raised. And, of course, I also want you to brief whether or not I should even consider this procedurally." (11/28/16 Tr., p.152, Ls.20-25 (emphasis added).)

The prosecution was given the time it requested—45 days to brief not only the issue of whether there was reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop, but also the issue of the whether the district court should even consider it. (11/28/16 Tr., p.153, Ls.1-13, p.156, L.14 - p.157, L.21.) The prosecution filed no brief arguing that the issue was procedurally barred. Instead, it called several witnesses at the next evidentiary hearing to testify on the reasonable suspicion issue. (1/12/17 Tr., p.9-111.) It also made legal arguments on the issue. (1/12/17 Tr., p.114, L.10 - p.119, L.12, p.123, L.10 - p.126, L.18.) Its argument now that it suffered an injustice due to lack of notice is disingenuous.

The State claims that the district court's conclusion that Mr. Bias had previously raised the legality of the stop in his petition "cannot be reconciled" with the district court's order appointing counsel in which it stated that Mr. Bias had failed to assert why the stop had been illegal. (App. Br., pp.7-9.) This argument is a red herring; the district court's conclusion does not need to be reconciled with its order appointing counsel. The relevant time period here is after the video was discovered. When it was, post-conviction counsel moved to amend the pleading. He said, "[A]fter watching that video, I can't help but raise the issue of probable cause for a stop in this case." (9/19/16 Tr., p.135, L.24 – p.136, L.1.) He went on to say, "I think looking at the video raises a whole new set of issues whether the officer had probable cause or reasonable suspicion to even pull the vehicle over" (9/19/16 Tr., p.136, Ls.3-6.) The district court then asked if post-conviction counsel was "asserting a new basis for post-conviction relief on failure to suppress the evidence for lack of reasonable suspicion to pull over the vehicle." (9/19/16 Tr., p.136, Ls.19-22.) Counsel answered, "Well, I think we have to, based

on what we saw today on this video, Your Honor." (9/19/16 Tr., p.136, Ls.23-24.) The prosecution was then given ample notice and an opportunity to respond. (11/28/16 Tr., p.152, Ls.13-25, p.156, L.14 – p.157, L.21.) I.R.C.P. 15(b) clearly supports this procedure. "A party may move, at any time . . . to amend the pleadings to conform them to the evidence and to raise an unpleaded issue." I.R.C.P. 15(b)(2). Further, "[t]he purpose of Rule 15(b) is to allow cases to be decided on the merits, rather than upon technical pleading requirements." *Dunlap v. State*, 141 Idaho 50, 57 (2005) (quoting *Noble v. Ada County Elections Bd.*, 135 Idaho 495, 500 (2000)); *see also Clark*, 110 Idaho at 326 (1986).

The State also argues that the district court's finding that the prosecution objected when the issue was first raised "forecloses any claim that the issue was litigated with the express or implied consent of the state." (App. Br., p.6, n.2.) This is not correct. I.R.C.P. 15(b)(1) states that when "a party objects that evidence is not within the issues raised in the pleadings, the court may permit the pleadings to be amended." The rule also indicates that the court "should freely permit an amendment when doing so will aid in presenting the merits and the objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the evidence would prejudice that party's action or defense on the merits. The court may grant a continuance to enable the objecting party to meet the evidence." I.R.C.P. 15(b)(1). That is exactly what occurred here. When the prosecution introduced the video, post-conviction counsel moved to amend the pleadings as discussed above. The district court allowed post-conviction counsel to amend the pleading to conform to the evidence because it would aid in presenting the merits of the case. Also, when the prosecution objected, the district court allowed the prosecution to argue the issue. (9/19/16 Tr., p.142, L.18 – p.144, L.6.) It also allowed time—in the interest of fairness—for the prosecution to meet the evidence with briefing on the issue, and it held a third evidentiary hearing, so the State could present witnesses and further argument on the issue. (11/28/16 Tr., p.152, Ls.13-25, p.156, L.14 – p.157, L.21.)

The district court, particularly in light of the fact that the prosecution introduced a video that the defense had never seen, properly allowed post-conviction counsel to rely on the new evidence to support its new argument. When the prosecution objected to the issue at the second evidentiary hearing, the district court said, "Well, let's assume we're all in this business because we're trying to get it right. So help me get it right." (9/19/16 Tr., p.142, Ls.7-20.) And, in recounting the progression of this case, the district court said because these "newer issues had just developed at the very end of our last hearing, without the State having had an opportunity to really—I felt like the State was a little bit unintentionally or accidentally ambushed, because I don't think the plaintiff was intending to raise that issue until he actually saw the video." (1/12/17 Tr., p.138, Ls.11-20.) It went on to state, "I think everybody, including the State, is entitled to their day in court. And I feel like everyone's had that now." (1/12/17 Tr., p.138, Ls.23-25.)

A complete review of the record—particularly the district court's focus on fair treatment for *all* the parties—shows that this was an accurate statement, and the prosecution was not prejudiced. Post-conviction counsel informed the district court, in the presence of the prosecution, on September 19, 2016, that the video revealed an additional ineffective assistance of counsel claim—for failing to challenge the reasonable suspicion for the stop. That issue was not argued until January 12, 2017. The prosecution had ample notice and failed to file a brief or make any further arguments on whether the district court should consider the issue. Thus, it also failed to satisfy the court that consideration of the new issue would prejudice its defense on the merits. As such, the district court did not err in considering the claim. D. <u>The Issue Of Whether Trial Counsel Was Ineffective For Failing To File A Motion To</u> <u>Suppress Challenging The Reasonable Suspicion For The Traffic Stop Was Tried With</u> <u>The Implicit Consent Of The Prosecution</u>

On January 12, 2017, having failed to file a brief on the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to challenge the reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop and whether the district court should consider the issue, the prosecutor appeared at a hearing to determine whether there was reasonable suspicion for the stop. (1/12/17 Tr., p.6, Ls.8-23; R., pp.59-60.) He came prepared with four witnesses and made his arguments on the issue. (1/12/17 Tr., generally.)

Therefore, this issue was clearly tried with the implied consent of the prosecution. "When an issue not raised by the pleadings is tried by the parties' express or implied consent, it must be treated in all respects as if raised by the pleadings." I.R.C.P. 15(b)(2). "The requirement that the unpleaded issues be tried by at least the implied consent of the parties assures that the parties have notice of the issues before the court and an opportunity to address those issues with evidence and argument." *M. K. Transp., Inc. v. Grover*, 101 Idaho 345, 349 (1980). Additionally, "when a theory is fully tried by the parties, I.R.C.P. 15(b) allows a court to base its decision on a theory not pleaded 'and deem the pleadings amended accordingly" *Dunlap*, 141 Idaho at 57 (quoting *Paterson v. State*, 128 Idaho 494, 502 (1996)).

The district court allowed the prosecution to brief why it might have been prejudiced by the court's consideration of the issue, and the prosecution had ample opportunity to continue to object along those lines. Instead of doing that, however, it called more witnesses at the next evidentiary hearing, and the parties litigated the issue thoroughly. (*See generally* 1/12/17 Tr.)

Finally, the district court identified this as an issue and ruled on it. Thus, even if postconviction counsel never formally amended the pleading, the district court could deem the

21

pleading amended. *See Dunlap*, 141 Idaho at 57-58. Had the district court ruled on the issue after the second evidentiary hearing without giving the state time to meet the evidence, this would require a different analysis. However, that was not the case here. The issue was tried with the consent of the prosecution.

II.

The District Court Applied The Correct Legal Standards When It Held That Mr. Bias's Trial Counsel Was Ineffective

A. <u>Introduction</u>

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